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BRADDOCAK'’S ROCK.

KEY OF ALL KEYS

Mr. Hugh T. Taggart Dissects the
Tradition of Braddock’s Rock.

ASSERTS THAT HE DID NOT LAND THERE

—~ -

Shows Where the Troops Probably
Disembarked.

—_— - -

HISTORIC INTEREST

—+—- o e ———

OF

N THE YEAR 179},
when the surveys
were bteing made (or
the plan of the pro-

posed  federal capi-
tel, a large rock
forme1l part of the
shore of the Poto-
rac river, and stood
about midway Dbe-
Lwen the points
where 23d and 25in
stre2t8 met its wa-

ters. ‘this rock was
of considerable
length, and it rose suiliciently Ligh above
the surface of the river to make it a pie-
turesque an'l interesting featvre of the
landscap.

On: portion of it ex:ended for a consider-
able distance out into the river, presenting
the appearance of a wharf cr
place; to this circumstance, and to the
tfurther one that there was a great depth of
water at the rock, must be attributed the
fact that it rec-=ived from the f{irst set-
tlers the name of **The Key of all Keys,”
that i3, the quay of all quays, or the grea.-
est of all landing plac~3., By that name it
had become kKnown soon after the arrival
of the first Maryland colonists in the year
1632 by wnom it was christened we know
not, and history also leaves us tu inference
and conj-ci'ire as to the extent to which it
was usel “or the purposes of which its
nrame is sugzestive.

[t was .nciently

described as ‘‘a large

rcck lying at and in the river Potomak,
commonly <¢alled the Key of all Keys,”
and being regarded as an imonerishable

rmonument it lecame an important boun-
cary mark for lands in its vicinity. One of
the earliest grants made by the colonial
authorities in this section is that of ““The
Widow’'s Mite,”” which was patentad in tlLe
year 1686 to William Langworth, as the
son and heir of John l.angworth, upon a
certificate dated as early as the year 16t

This certiricate states that a surveyv nad
l.een made of the tract, and both it and the
ratent give a *‘cedar tree’’ as its beginning;
in after years, however, it seems to have
been settled that the tract had for its beo-
ginning the rock known as ““The Key of all
Keys,”” and this was its accepted starting
point in the year 1791. It was doubtless in-
tended to grant to Langworth, senior, a
tract of land in this vicinity, but it is 1m-
pcassible to read the ridiculous eorrors of
geography perpetrated in the description of
the land given in the so-called certitica.e
of survey without coming to the conclusion
that the lines of the tract were not run on
the grouad at all.

Peter’'s Hill.

A large portion of the 600 acres included
in the grant for ‘“‘the Widow's Mite’” fell
within the limits of the city of Washington:
the tract extended from the river side in

the form of a parallelogram in a north-
westerly  direction beyond the present
northern boundary of the city, and the

western boundary line of the tract nearly
bisected one of the reservations made for
public purposes by the government author-
1ties, of land within the limits of the city,
namely, the reservation between 231 and
=oth stre«ts, having E street for a northern
boundary and the river for a boundary on
the south; this space, called “Peter’s Hill,”
was intended by the founders of the city as
the site of a fort and barracks: it was
later determined to locate upon it a na-
tior-al university, toward which President
Washington contributed whnat was consid-
ered to be a *“liberal pecuniary donation.”
of fifty shares in the Potomac (Company,
then engaged in an effort (which proini=ed
to be successful) to improve the navigation
of the river to a point far above the city
(and convenient to the western waters),
throuzn tne construction of canals around
the various fails, the remcval of rocks, etc.
By the improvement it was expected that
the trade of *‘the rising empire west of the
Alleghanies” would be attracted to the Po-
tomac. During the war of 1S12 the militia
encamped upon it, and Gen. Williams had
there his headquarters, from which it be-
came Known as “Camp Hill.”” A naval ob-
servatory was finally erected upon the site.

The ““Key of all Keys” had an undisturbed
existence until the yvear 1794: the commis-
sioners of the city, who were then engag.d
in the construction of the Capitol and other
public buildings, were embarrassed in that
year by what would be called in this day a
“‘corner” in foundation stone; they say in
a letter to the President, dated December
-, '‘the price was risen upon us, nor could
we lately form a new contract or get an ola
one rencewed to our satisfaction.” They
were indebted apparently to the “Key of
all Kevs'™ for relief, for in the same letter
they announce “a discovery of foundation
stone” at that place which they expected
would prove to be valuable, and say that
they had agreed to let Mr. James Green-
leaf, who was then extensively engaged in
building on his own account, have the use
of a part of {t.

The quarry was worked at (heir joint ex-
pense until Jualy 26, 1794, when the supply
of stone for the Capitol hecame irsuflicient
through the neglect of its managers; there-
upon Correlius McecDermott Roe,under whom
the work at the Capitol was progressing,
took charge of the (qua.ry and thereafter
operated it upon the public account alone.

The Rock of Today.

The opening of this quarry no doubt re-
sulted in the disfigrirement of the appear-
ance of the ancieat .ock, and by the con-
struction of the Chesapeake and Ohio canal,
in 18332 and 1833, it was completely demol-
ished. The tow patn of the canal was con-

structed beyond the line of the rock, and in
the channel of the river. This left the rock
in the bed of the canal, and its removal was
accomplished by blasting. The only ves-
tiges of it now remaining are thre® small
ledges, which are still visible on what was
formerly the berm bank of the canal. The
place is now a dumping ground, filled with
ashes, tin cans, broken glass. mounds of
dirt everywhere and oth>r unspeakable de-
bris and refuse o0? a highly civilized com-
munity. On the occasion of a visit to the
spot by the writer a few days ago a greatly
inebriated individual was stretched at length
upon one of the ledgas of the historic rock,
profoundly engaged in sleaping off the ef-
fect of his potations. The continued use of
the spot as a dumping ground will in a very
short time result in the total obliteration of
even the remnants of the rock which are
now visible. The construction of the canal,
followed by the reclamation of the flats, ef-
fected an extraordinary change in the
original shore of the river at this point. The

linding

shore line is now upward o’ a quarter of a
mile distant from the spot where the tide
formerly ebbed and flo xved.

Interest in tha gld rock has been revived
recently through the action of the local
society of the Sons and Daughters of the
American Revolution. It has long been a
tradition in this community that the army
of General Braddock, to which the father
of his country in his youth was attached
as an aid-de-camp to the general, landed

gﬁa;’e and encamped on the Observatory

It was adverted to by so eminent an
authority in matters of history as the late
Peter Force; and George W. Hughes, civil
engineer and superintendant of the Long
bridge, in a report to the Secratary of the
Treasury, dated January 50, 135, makes
this statement: ““It is matter of history that
General Braddock disembark=d at a rock,
which still bears his name, near the glass
house, from a sloon-of-war, on his unfor-

tunate expedition against the French and
Indians in 1755.”

Only a Tradition.

Upon the assumption that such was the
faci, the society determined that it would
be proper tc mark the spot in a way to
commemorate the cvent. The assertion or
assumption that Braddock and his army
landed on this rock in their progress west-

ward from Alexandria can be establishel
by_ no co:atemporary record and has to sus-
ta.n it ro basis of authentic fact: it has not
the force even of probability to support it.
The rock was undoubtedly there at the time,
and might have been utilized by the expe-
aition as a landing place had it been re-
quired by the necessities of the occasion.

It i3 a graceless task to destroy the ro-
mantic legend, but the undoubted facts of
history are utterly incorns'stent with such
4 movement by Braddock’'s aimy, as will
be readily seen from a review of the local
s.tuation at that time and of certain facts
connected with the army which have been
preserved.

In the valuable contribution to the his-
tory of the Potomac valley by our fellow
townsman, Wiliilam H. Lowdermilk, en-
titled **The History of Cumberland,” and in
another work by Winthrop Sargent, en-
titled *“*“The History of Braddock's Expedi-
t:on,” will ne found all the information
extant in regard to the causes which led
up tn the expedition and of its movements
on this continent. Mr. Lowdermilk’s work
conta:ns the *"Orderly book” of Gen. Brad-
dock, printed from the originals in Wash-
iIngton’s handwriting, which are in the
L.ibrary of Congress; and that of Mr. Sar-
gent corntains the journals of Capt. Orme,
and of the seamen detailed by the Britisn
admiral to accompany the expedition.

The story of the expedition, apart from
lccal incidents and associations, is one of
the most interesting chapters in American
history.

The French being in possession of Canada
and of the country at the mouth of the
Mississsippl, and claiming the intervening
territory by right of discovery, began the
struggle ‘‘for the mastery of the continent,””
by establishing forts at Niagara and Crown
Poing, and attempting to establish a chain
of posts along the Ohio and M:ss!ssippi to
the Gulf of Mexico. Their aggressive move-
mentl were viewed with alarm by thre
British colonists aloug the Atlantic sea-
board, by whom the French pretentions
were denied, but the efforts of the colonists
at resistance were feeble and without suc-
cess; the French reached the junction of
the Ohio and Mononganela, the site of the
present city of Pittsburg, and captured a
small detachment of Virginians, who were
engaged there in the erection of a fort;
they then erected a fort at the spot. to
which was given the name Du Quesne, in
honor of the governor general of Canada.
A movement under the command of Wash-
ingtcn culmirnated In disaster, and after the
british flag was struck at Fort Neces-
3ity, and Washington’s little army retired,
““the lilies of France flcated over every
fcrt, military post and mission from the
Alleghanies to the Mississippi.”

The English Aroused.

The government of Great Britain became
aroused, and money was appropriated by
parliament to defray the expenses of an
expedition having for its object the restora-
tion of English power on the continent.
On September 24, 1754, Sir Edward Brad-
dock was commissioned by King George as
general of all the troops to be sent to INorth

America or raised there; under date of No-
vember, 25, 1754, he received his instruc-
tions from the king, which read in part as
follows:

“1. We kaving taken under our Royal &
serious corsideration the Representations
of our subjects in North America, & Yye
present state of our colonies, in order to
vindicate our just Rights and Pos3e¢ssions
from all ercroachments, & to secure ye
Cemmerce of our subjects, We have given
direction yt Two of our Regiments of Foot
now in Ireland, commanded by Sir Petcr
Halket & Col. Dunbar, & likewise a suita-
ble Train of Artillery, Transports and
Store Ships, together with a certain num-
ber of our Ships of War, to convey the
same, shall forthwith repair to North
America.

“2d. You shall immediately upon the re-
ceipt of these our instructions embark on
board of one of our Ships of War, and you
shall proceed to North America, where
you will take our sald force under your
command. And We having appointed
Aug. Keprel, Esqr., to command ye Squad-
ron of our Ships of War on ye American
Station, we do hereby require & enjoin ycu
to cultivate a good understanding & «vor-
respondence with ye sd Commander of our
Squadron during vour continuance upon
ve Service with which you are now en-
trusted. We having given directions cof
yve like nature to ve sd Commander ¢f our

Squadron with regard to his conduct & cor-
resrondence with you.”

Braddock in Command.

The king further directed that the com-
pPlements of the two regiments of foot
should be increased from 3500 to 700 men
each, by recruits to be enlisted in America,
and that two other regiments of foot of
1,000 men each should be raised in the

colonies, one of which should be under the
command of Governor Shirley of Massa-
chusetts, and the other c¢f Sir Willilam
Pepperill. Sir John 8t. Clair was ap-
pointed deputy quartermaster general of
the forces.

Braddock was given the chief command
in America upon the recommendation of
the Duke of Cumberiand, the British com-
mander-in-chief, from whom he received
further instructions enjoining him among
other things, to constantly observe strict
discipline in the troops, ‘“and to be par-
ticularly careful that they be not thrown
into a panic by the Indians, with whom
they are yet unacquainted and whom the
Frernch will certainly employ to irighten
them.” As shown by the sequel, this in-
junction was not regarded by Braddock,
for he was ambushed by the French and
Indians on July 9, 1755, and his army de-
stroyed.

Walpole describes Braddock as a man
““desperate In fortune, brutal in his be-
havior and obstinate in his sentiments,’”’
but “intrepid and capable.”” Shirley de-
scribed him as ‘‘a general most judiciously
chosen for being disqualified for the service
he is embarked in, in every respect."

Lowdermilk, in a review of his character,
states that ‘““he was fond of high living,
convivial and prone to the laxity of morals
that usually follows excess in those par-
ticulars. The ‘gaming table had its fas-
cinations for him, and he was arrogant,
unforgiving and intemperate. He was
haughty, severe, reserved and full of self-
Importance, which qualities served on
many occasions to make him greatly dis-
llked. There was little of refinement in
his nature, and he was brutal in h treat-

ment of those who invoked his rese tment
or dislike.”

Landed at Alexandria,
Braddock left England on the 21st of De-

cemher, 1754, on the Norwich, Capt. Bar- | in the negative, as to both baggage and

r:ngton, accompanied by .the Centurion, the
flagship of Commodore Keppel, and the
Syren, Capt. Proby. The fleet which trans-
ported the expedition to America consisted

of the transports Anna, Halifax, Osgood,
Loondon, Industry, Isabel and Mary, Ter-
rible, Fame, Concord, 'Prince Frederick,
Fishburn, Molly and Severn. There were
also two ordnance shipg, the Whiting and
the Newall, the whole under convoy of two
men-of-war, the Seahorse and Nightingale.

Upon the arrival of the vessels in Hamp-
ton Roads they were directed to proceed to
Alexandria or Belhaven, where the troops
disembarked and went into camp. .

Sir John Sinclair advised the general that
by making two divisfons of the troops ¥ort
Cumberland on Willis creek (the site of
the present city of Cumberland) might be
reached with more ease and expedition.
He proposed that one regiment with all
the powder and ordnance should go by way
of Winchester and the other regiment, with
the ammunition, military and hospital
stores, by way of Frederick, Md., and he
assured the general that boats, batteaux,
canoes and wagons were prepared for the
service and also that provisions were laid
in at Frederick for the troops.

These recommendations were approved
and acted upon, and on the 9th of April,
1750, Sir Peter Halket, with six companies
of the forty-fourth regiment, mhrched to
Winchester, leaving Lieut. Co® Gage with
the other four companies to escort the
artillery. Capt. Orme states that boats
were not provided for conveying the stores
to Rock creek and the general was obliged
to press vessels and to apply to the commo-
dore for seamen to navigate them, and that

were all sent up to Rock creek and an offi-
cer with thirty men of the forty-eighth
regiment was sent thither with orders to

load and dispatch all the wagons as fast as
they came in.

At Rock Creek.

The officer was directed to send a party
with every division and to apply for more
men as the others marched, ‘“‘and all the
boats from that part of the river” were
ordered ‘‘to assist in transporting over the
Potomack the forty-eighth regiment.”” On

the 14th a council was held at Alexandria,
at which were present Gen. Braddock,
Commodore Keppel, Gov. Shirley of Massa-
chusetts, Lieut. Gov. Delancy of New York,
L.ieut. Gov. Dinwiddie of Virginia, Lieut.
Gov. Sharp of Maryland and Lieut. Gov.
Morris of Pennsylvania. On the 18th the
forty-eighth regiment marched to Freder-
ick, leaving thirty additional men with the
officer at Rock creek.
The business of the council being over,
Capt. Orme states that the general would
have set out for Frederick, but few wagons
or teams were yet come to remove the ar-
tillery. Of this he advised Sir John Sin-
clair, and a few days thereafter set out for
Frederick, leaving Lieut. Col. Gage and the
four companies of the forty-fourth regi-
ment with orders to dispatch the powder
and artillery as fast as horses and wagons
should arrive. At Rock creek the general
called for a return of the stores and gave
orders that such as were most necessary
should be first transported.

On April 11 a detachment of thirty sea-
men from the fleet were provided with
eight days’ provisions and ordered to pro-

Appropriation
Ay &

cced on the morrow to Rock creek, eight
miles, in the hLoats of the Sea Horse and
Nightingale; in their journal it is recorded
that they arrived at the creek at 10 a.m.
of the 12th, and, finding Col. Dunbar there,
placed themselves under his orders: on the
13th they were employed in getting the
regimental stores into wagons; the situa-
tion is said to have been pleasant, “but
provisions and everything dear;” they be-
gan the march at 6 a.m. of the 14th, and
camped at 2 o'clock in the afternoon at the
ordinary of L.awrence Owens, “fifteen miles
from Rock creek and eight miles from the
vpper falls of the Potomack;” on the 17th
they arrived at Frederick, which, althougzh
‘“‘rot settled above seven years,’”” it is said,
had ‘“‘about 200 houses and two churches,

one English and one Dutch,” and that the
‘nhabitants, chiefly Dutch, were an *‘“in-
dustrious but imposing people.”’

Route of the Expedition.

From the ‘‘Orderly Book' it appears that
on April 7, 1755, Col. Dunbar’s regiment
(the forty-eighth) was directed ‘‘to March
at b o’clock on Saturday morning for Rock
creek,”” and ‘‘all boats on that part of the
river near Rock creek are ordered to at-

tend to carry the troops over.”” The roite
of march was prescribed: To Rock creek,
e€:ght miles; to Owen’s Orainary, fifteen
miles; to Dowden’s Ordinary, fifteen miles;
tc Frederick, fifteen miles.

It further appears from the ‘Orderly
Book’ that on April 8 an officer and thirty
men were directed to remain at Rock
creek ‘‘till all the stores of the train and
hospital are put into the wagons,” and
then ‘‘tc march and form a rear guard for
the whole;”” that on April 9 two sergeants
and twerty men were ordered to the creek
‘“to reinforce the officer there;”” on the 11th
the fact is noted that boats had been pro-
vided ‘“‘to carry Col. Dunbar’s regiment’s
beggage to Rock creek;” the time of the
march was postponed, and by the orders
of April 25 the regiment were directed ‘*‘to
hold themselves in readiness to march by
the 29th;"” there is no entry for the 29th,
but doubtless the regiment marched on
ttat day agreeably to the orders: under
date of the 28th are entered the final or-
ders to Ensign French, the officer at Rock
creek.

Washington seems to have had no con-
nection with the expedition, and did not

accompany either of the columns on their
march frem Alexandria; his name s first

mentioned in the orderly book on May 10,
1335, at which time the army was encamp-
ed at Fort Cumberland. The entry is as
follows: “Mr. Washington is appointed
aid-de-camp to  his excellency General
Braddock;” it was evidently after this that
he entered the orders of a previous dato.

The journals of Capt. Orme and the sea-
men show that Braddcck did not accom-
pany Col. Dunbar’s regiment when it
marched to Rock creek, and, as has been
indicated, Washington only became con-
rected with the expedition after its ar-
rival at Fort Cumberland, and was not
with it on the march from Alexandria to
Rock creek; they further show that the
movement of the regiment was overland
from Alexandria to a point somewhere on
the Virginia side of the river nearly oppo-
site Rock creek, from which it was trans-
pcrted In boats to the Maryland side, and
that the baggage was transported to Rock
creek by water.

Where the Landing Was Made.

It only remains to be determined whether
the landing upon the latter side of the

river of either baggage or men or both
was made at ‘“The Key of all Keys.”
There is historical evidence, the authen-
ticity of which is beyond dispute, and by
which the question is settled conclusively

finally and with the greatest difficulty they

men. B3

The act of the Maryland assembly which
provided for the: laying out of Georgetown
was passed In December of the year 1751;
it recites that several inhabitants had rep-
resented to the legislature that there was
a convenient place for a town on the Po-
tomac river, above the mouth of Rock
creek and ‘“adjacent. to the inspection
house.” :

As early as the year 1640 the colony had
by its legislatien provided for the inspec-
tion of tobacco,, and forbidden its export
until it had beem ‘‘viewed and inspected;”
the vestries of the different parishes were
authorized to appoint the inspectors, and
numerous warehpuses were erected by in-
dividuals near navigation, at which the to-
bacco was collected and the inspections
made. ‘ ,r

On October 4, 1748, the vestry of Prince
George’'s parish appointed Capt. Alexander
Magruder, Messrs. Josiah Beall, John
Clagett and Alexander Beall as the in-
spectors for ‘‘George Gordon’'s warehouse
at the mouth of Rock creek.”” Georgetown
was laid out around this warehouse; its
site was known as the ‘Warehouse lot,”
and upon it now stand the buildings of
the Capital Traction Company, formerly
the Washington and Georgetown city rail-
road, which front on the south side of
Bridge street near High street. These in-
spection houses, at or near shipping points,
became centers of trade, and the principal
roads in their vicinity led to them and to
the landing places.

Went of the Creek.

In 1751 the main roads leading to the site
of the town and Gordon’s warehouse were
the road to Frederick and the road to Bla-
densburg, the latter of which crossed Bock
creek at the ford and just beyond the pres-
ent P street bridge. The road to Frederick

followed the river for some distance above
the town, and vestiges of it seem still to re-
main along the canal, near the present
Cabin John bridge.

The objective point being Frederick, it
was along this road that the forty-eighth
regimant of Foot merched; it could not be
reached by any road from ‘““The Key of all
Keys’” without ferriage over Rock creek, or
by a circuitous route by way of the ford.
It must, therefore, be assumed that the

regiment crossed the river west of the
creek.

Since 1751 a great space has been reclaim-
ed from the water on the Georgetown side
of the creek, but when the town was laid
out in that year its southeastern corner or
boundary was very near the creek, and at a
place called “Saw Pit Landing.” In 1753,
when Braddock’s regiment passed,this land-
ing was still in existence.

The map of Jefferson and Fry, published
in 1777, was based on surveys made between
1745 and 1755; it shows Rock creek and a
place on the Maryland side, about opposite
the western end of Analostan Island,
which bears the name of ““Magee’'s Ferry.”
All indications point to the road to the fer-
ry landing on the Virginia side as the one
traveled by the regiment in its march from
Alexandria, from which transportation di-
rectly across the river alone was needed to
reach the road to Frederick: this road no
doubt extended easterly to Saw Pit landing,
which point would have been the most con-
venient one for the landing of the baggage,

and for this reason it may have been used
for that purpose.

Washington Landed There.

It iIs quite likely that Washington used
this rock as a landing place while pursuing
the occupation of his youth, in making sur-
veys of lands along the Potomac for Lord
Fairfax and others, er upon the occasion of
a friendly visit to a Maryland neighber

during the early days of his residcence at
Mount Vernon, but “The Key of all Keys'
had no assoclation with Braddock's eXnNe-
dition beyond that of propinquity to one
of its lines of march.

Independently of this, however, the an-
cient rock was a historic spot for the rea-
sons which have been stated, and for the
further reason that it became one of the
bcundary marks of a town laid cut in 1767
by Jacob Fuunk, under the name of Ham-
burg, but which was more generally known
as Funkstown, and which lost its identity
wlhen the federal capital was established.
within whose limits the town was included.

Although in the work of reclaiming the
flats the shore has been pushed far awdady
from its former-docation at this point, a
pond has torped in a depression along the
ledge of rocks, which constitute all that re-
mains of ““The Key of all Keys;" the pond
is mostly givén over to such uses as frogs
and small bods find for it; the wriier
1ecently observed one of the latter launch
a Loy boat into this pond from one of the
remnanis of the rock; the boat moved over
the surface of the water in the most ap-
proved propeller fashion. Closer examina-
tion of the boat showed 1t to be about
twenty-twce inches in length, of graceful
outline, and that it was provided with a
rudder and screw, which latter was workad
by machinery; and inquiry developed the
fact that the small boy, Master Willie Srib-
ner, who owned it, was an exceedingly
bright and intelligent specimen of his class,
and that he was withal of an ingenious
turn of mind: that he had cut the boat out
of a so0lid block of wood, and supplied it
With a rudder and screw, also of his- own
manufacture, and that its motive power
was due to the works of a clock, which he
had adapted to the purpose and introduced
into its hold. The observer could not help
making a mental contrast between the
pastime of this boy and that of his pre-
decessor, the Indian small boy of the re-
mote past, whose lessons in the art of nav-
igation began and ended with his bark
canoe; and a cogent reason for the failure
of the latter to maintain himself in the
struggle for existence, which was precipi-
tated upon him by his white brother, was
apparent. S

It is thought that the foregoing furnishes
considerations of sufficient importan-e,
even in this utititarian age, to require that
the destructive hand of man be stayed,
and that the remnants of the ancient and
historic rock should be rescued from the
oblivion with which they are threatened
and their existence perpatuated as a me-
rorial of the past, and it 1s to be hoped
that the city fathers may take this view
and at once adopt such measures as may
be necessary in the premises. If anything
is to be done circumstances demand that it
be done quickly, in order to save from an
ashy grave what remains of ‘““The Key of
all Keys.” HUGH T. TAGGART.
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